

Summary and action report

Presented by International Council on Active Aging

January 2021

About the ICAA Forum

The ICAA Forum brings together thought leaders from many organizations—both private and public—to form a think tank that develops strategies to turn the challenges facing senior living providers into opportunities. Launched in 2005, the meetings forge connections among industry leaders while promoting understanding and cohesive action around the ultimate goal: health and quality of life as people age.

Organizer: Colin Milner, CEO, International Council on Active Aging, colinmilner@icaa.cc Facilitator: Tom Kehner, theDifference Consulting, https://thedifferenceconsulting.com/ Report author: Patricia Ryan, Content Development, p3ryan@cox.net

www.icaa.cc/conferenceandevents/forums.htm

About International Council on Active Aging

ICAA is a professional association that leads, connects and defines the active-aging industry and supports professionals who aspire to develop wellness cultures for adults over 50. This support includes creating wellness environments, programs and services. The association is focused on active aging—an approach that helps older adults live as fully as possible within all dimensions of wellness and provides its members with education, information, resources and tools. As an activeaging educator and advocate, ICAA has advised numerous organizations and governmental bodies.

www.icaa.cc

International Council on Active Aging® #603 - 1112 West Pender Street Vancouver, BC, Canada V6E 2S1

Sponsors







leaders in mindful movement.









LIVING

2

Contents

Wellness is derived from our ability to understand, accept and act upon our capacity to lead a purpose-filled and engaged life. In doing so, we can embrace our potential (physical, emotional, spiritual, intellectual, social, environmental, vocational) to pursue and optimize life's possibilities.

Source: International Council on Active Aging

4. Building the new models of communities for older adults

Dichotomies identify future imperatives

Thoughts for the future

Unpacking "community" in senior living

- 9. Future-proof the built and un-built environment
- **11.** Future-proof technology integration
- 13. Future-proof workforce quality, growth and retention
- **15.** Future-proof wellness culture and lifestyle
- 17. Rewriting the playbook for future-proofed communities
- **19.** Details

References

Resources

Copyright © 2021 International Council on Active Aging, www. icaa.cc. All rights reserved.



2

Building the new models of communities for older adults

"I think the pandemic has taught us to work in collaboration with communities that have been competitors in the past. We all have come together to work through this."

Angie Frantz, Product Manager, Expressions, Prestige Senior Living

All the communities in senior living have been caught up by the tornado of issues that arrived on their doorsteps along with the COVID-19 pandemic. The emergency that disrupted business as usual is months old now, but the issues themselves are current.

Coming out of this disruption, the next models of senior living need to be future-proofed, meaning the philosophy and infrastructure of the organization are built for resilience, able to withstand the stresses that will inevitably impact operations. The purpose of the thought leaders who gathered during the International Council on Active Aging (ICAA) Forum 2020 think tank was to sketch the framework that will become the next normal of housing and services for older adults.

Future-proof: The philosophy and infrastructure of the organization are resilient, framed to withstand the stresses that will inevitably impact operations. While most communities remain immersed in providing services while controlling the spread of the coronavirus, leadership and staff are rethinking the community's operations since the situations that were in need of change are now priorities for action: staffing shortages, siloed departments, bad reputation, lack of differentiation among properties, challenging building designs and lack of investment in wellness.

To prioritize the issues, discussions focused on four areas that are key to all organizations:

- The built and unbuilt environment
- Technology integration
- Workforce quality, growth and retention
- Wellness culture and lifestyle

Exploring the "tomorrow" of senior living

Today, the term "senior living" refers to planned, agerestricted communities (generally, 55 or 65 years and older) with residences and services for people who live independently or need assistance with daily activities or health care. These communities typically are divided according to the services and amenities being provided: independent living, assisted living, memory care or nursing care. Real estate targeted to people 50 years and older can be thought of as senior living, although these developments do not have the services provided by age-restricted communities, such as meals and transportation, included in their fees. Long-term care nursing or rehabilitation settings are not the same as most senior living campuses, although similar services may be provided.

The question that has hung in the background of senior living over the past years was raised again during the ICAA Forum discussions: Is there even a place for "senior living" campuses in the future, since the younger boomer and Gen X generations don't understand current models, are not attracted to them and may not be able to afford senior living as it stands today?

The consensus among Forum colleagues was that yes, there is a role for older adult communities as long as new, relevant models emerge to ensure their viability and sustainability. Provisions of services for older adults is the mission of many organizations, and that commitment remains. The rock-solid agreement among all think tank participants is that each community's operations will not return to prepandemic norms. Nor should they, because many positive changes took place amid the pivot to long-term emergency action.

What will communities of homes and services for older adults look like within the new models of living? The categories (and fee structures) of the current models will inevitably change. Perhaps a place to start is to consider the next term describing housing for older adults is based on lifestyle, services and features that aid functional ability. What is retired is the word "senior."

Dichotomies identify future imperatives

Sets of contrasting issues must be evaluated to prepare an organization for the future.

- Social connections are a key promise of senior living, yet safety during infectious disease events (flu, virus and such) means living alone with no or limited personal contact.
- Technology assists with connecting people and delivering some services, and technology separates people and inter-departmental functions.
- Technology enables remote health care and monitoring, yet augmenting telehealth and health care services at the property threatens the shift to a multidimensional wellness culture.
- Wellness, in all dimensions and delivered through every department, is a service desired by current and future residents, yet wellness staffing and programs are often cut when balancing budgets.

- Funding is provided to cover the cost of care during and after an illness, but little funding is available for prevention, a core principle of wellness and part of the value-based care approach in U.S. health care (NEJM Catalyst 2017).
- The business models of senior living rely on residents paying rent and fees for housing and services, but the housing and services that attract and retain residents were disrupted because of the pandemic and move-ins declined.
- The pandemic forced extreme changes to daily operations and staff roles, yet this broke down departmental silos and inspired collaboration and teamwork.
- Senior living communities compete among themselves and the larger community, yet competitors became allies sharing information, ideas and resources.

Thoughts for the future

"Are future residents/customers looking to influence and inform what their community looks like and what quality of life they will have? Does the company culture play a role in customer decision-making?"

Kelly Ording, Regional Director of Resident Programming, Watermark Retirement Communities

Inside and outside of senior living, the culture, vocabulary and beliefs of people circulate around the strategies framing new models of living for older adults. In particular, revenue streams rely on real estate and government or private health insurance, swerving the business of senior living to housing and health care. As a result, the confused consumer believes "senior living" or "retirement communities" are nursing homes or a place to stay out of everyone else's way.

The need to change the beliefs surrounding housing for older adults surfaced throughout the ICAA Forum discussions.

- Ageist stereotypes and vocabulary exist among the leadership and staff of communities, in the same way these are found among the residents and general population. Replace stereotypes of what older people can or cannot do, or should do, with a focus on functional ability instead of age. Support means aiding individual's highest level of capability. Recognize that older people are full-fledged adults, not overgrown children or people who need to be "fixed."
- The value proposition needs to be articulated and stated in a simple, clear way. Potential residents/ clients do not know what communities offer, which influences the stereotypes of senior housing. Words like "senior" and "retirement" don't help. A person who is 76 and works part-time does not consider he or she is a senior or retired. One approach is to reconsider the organization's name once the new model is determined.
- An industrywide definition of wellness would help express the value proposition and reduce confusion. Even people in the industry use the word differently, which shows they don't know what it means (ICAA 2019). Reminder: Health care is a subcategory of wellness. A universal definition that describes the components of wellness would enable individual organizations to measure the results of the lifestyle with a few Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), giving strength to every organization in the industry when seeking funding, clients and resources (Wellness KPIs are in the ICAA/ ProMatura Wellness Benchmarks, see Resources).

Unpacking "community" in senior living

Future-proofing means considering what is meant by "community." People are becoming accustomed to staying at home, and the boomer generation is not as interested in the housing options senior living often provides. Older adults can access services and amenities in their current homes at a rate that dramatically increased during the pandemic.

Is a senior living community inside four walls? Or, could resources be reallocated to position the senior living community as a recognized neighborhood of the larger community? Thinking beyond property lines opens up potential to make it easier to integrate amenities and services into community life, expanding offerings without having to provide the infrastructure. Inviting neighbors to share the services that are on-site, whether a restaurant or a fitness center, complements mission at the same time it opens doors to potential new residents and revenue streams.

Opening up a community will be a shock to the culture and infrastructure of senior living. Some communities are located away from towns and cities; others promise safety by keeping their gates closed and guarded. Residents may not wish to share their amenities with non-residents. Future-proofing implies looking beyond today to what elements can sustain a community in five years, in 10 years. The pandemic's disruption cemented the notion that life will change, creating the opportunity to redefine "residents" and "amenities."

The ICAA Forum participants predict that being part of the larger community will be a much higher need for sustainability in the future.



Thoughts for the future

- Aggregating data across all business segments and product lines would allow each organization to reasonably evaluate results. Ideally, with similar accounting methods, many communities could benchmark the impact of services and quality-oflife in addition to census. Technology companies must help with this by better understanding the business of older adult communities and demonstrating a willingness to be compatible with other technologies in use at the community.
- Acknowledge that all staff members are the people power behind ideas, problem-solving and getting the work done. Does everyone in the organization, including the board, investors, executives and managers respect and admire the CNAs who assist residents with the activities of daily living, like helping them eat and bathe? Are dining servers and housekeepers considered as important as the administrators? It can be easy to view these positions as an everlasting struggle of rotating staff who want a \$1/hour raise, yet they are the reason independent living, assisted living, memory care and nursing function. More support for their needs could make a new business model flourish.
- Investment priorities must shift if new models are to be realized. Investment in innovation to rethink the habitual ways of business will be needed, perhaps with separate but equal teams for operations and innovation. To bring innovation to fruition, the right people and services need to be in place, which suggests that hierarchies and positions will be rewritten. Past policies of bankers and investors make funding sources a stumbling block, but these entities likewise changed because of the pandemic and may be open to new models.

A final question that rumbled through the ICAA Forum conversations was, why are we segregating our residents instead of making them part of the larger community? Through the meeting, the word "community" emerged as a broad concept that extended well beyond the walls of a building.

Future-proof the built and unbuilt environment

"Consider what senior living community means and what it looks like. Does it have to stay the way it has been, or can it morph into something more flexible? Is "community" threading together existing locations where people already live and not the ones we create?"

Megan Longley, Vice President Sales, Acts Retirement-Life Communities

Senior living communities are based in the built environment of residences, dining rooms and kitchens, offices, theaters, fitness centers and community halls. Surrounding these buildings is the unbuilt environment of outdoor landscaping, sidewalks and recreation areas, either on or off the campus. Future-proofing these environments means adapting the buildings and other property features, and looking outside the walls to the outdoor spaces.

Another aspect of future-proofing is considering who lives at a property, an issue that jumped from the back burner to the front of the stove because of the housing affordability crisis for staff members (plus the need to prevent workers from contracting coronavirus when they went home via public transportation) and for residents' family members facing similar affordability challenges.

Build for community connections. Form strong connections within the communities/towns that are home to residents and the senior living property. Open the campus and make facilities accessible to older adults in the larger community who live close enough to walk, drive or take public transportation. A robust interface with the larger community also serves a not-for-profit's commitment to public good while opening potential for cost sharing and revenue.

Reallocate buildings to include staff and family members as residents. Affordable housing in a separate wing or building can help solve the challenge of recruiting and retaining staff as well as provide another source of residents to maintain census. Keep "intergenerational" in mind. Cottages with in-law suites or communal-style homes with shared kitchen/common areas can be a home for residents and their adult children. For reduced rent, family members care for their loved one and when they need a break, the community provides support. These units can serve as affordable housing for staff and their families, which eases their economic and travel burdens while benefitting staffing levels at the community.

Design for sustainability and cost control. Use sustainable building practices selected from a "green" perspective to help address climate change-related weather events and ultimately lower operational costs. Environmentally friendly housing also attracts like-minded staff and residents.

Design for well building interiors. In addition to good ventilation, ensure there is adequate light (adjustable to match circadian rhythms) and natural light, paying attention to sight lines and sound. Use environmentally friendly cleaning products and consider interior design and furnishings that are attractive and easy to clean or sanitize.

Plan space for internet shopping and deliveries. Residents are ordering online for clothes, food or other necessities; organizations are requesting deliveries instead of picking up supplies; restaurants are delivering meals. The standard mail room cubicle is not adequate to handle all the packages and deliveries. Make space for these.

Plan an accessible, open-space environment. Open floor plans allow for easy flow and flexibility of use and avoid the "locked in" feel. Plan gathering spaces (besides the lobby) where people can meet: multi-use common areas plus smaller places for more intimate activities. Relocate wellness service areas, such as fitness centers and recreation rooms, closer to the main public spaces (move out of the basement) for easy accessibility.

Plan for flexible function spaces. Design multi-purpose spaces that adapt quickly for appropriate services or needs. For example, a morning coffee bar converts to the chef's cooking demonstration in the afternoon and a full bar in the evening. Moveable, acoustic "air" walls divide larger spaces into smaller

Future-proof the built and unbuilt environment

rooms depending on the purpose. Built-in features, such as flip-up table tops, under-bench storage and a row of parallel bars attached to walls enables space to transition quickly from one purpose to another.

Incorporate no-touch features into buildings. Automatic doors and touchless fixtures like faucets or voice-activated television controls are easier for people with a functional impairment and help control touch-related disease transmission. Smart home installations for heating, lighting and appliances are additional no-touch aids.

Design a purpose-built virtual health care location. Prepare for different types of telehealth visits (medical visits, counseling,

health coach) with spaces equipped with blood pressure monitors, oxygen meters, etc. and easy access for nurses, along with comfortable and private options for counseling and health coach visits.

Build easy access to the outdoors. Prioritize patios and balconies. Design doors, windows and floor plans to allow convenient access to gardens, greenhouses and walking paths. Position access points to the outdoors at frequent intervals close to where residents live so they can easily move outside without walking long distances. Enclosed outdoor patio areas with resident monitoring systems enable all residents to come and go, regardless of cognitive ability.

Built and unbuilt environment				
Potential shocks & stressors	What's possible to minimize			
Customer is not attracted to senior living communities and will increas- ingly find ways to stay in their current communities.	Build a network with local resources that provides a two-way interaction between the community at large and older adult housing.	Invite the outside community to visit the community using town center or main street amenities and services that attract people from surrounding communities.		
Power outages affect the internet and also shut down elevators, touchless systems (faucets, doors, speakers).	Plan delivery systems to all floors in a building for food, programs, supplies. Place stairs in strategic, accessible loca- tions near service areas for staff use.	Install a "fail-safe" backup system so touchless doors, faucets and other fixtures operate in the event of a power failure.		
Natural/man-made disasters: climate change-related weather events, floods, hurricanes, fires; new pandemics, ill- nesses, supply chain disruptions, active shooters.	Comprehensive disaster prepared- ness plans; evacuation plans. Supplies housed onsite; supply lines needed to implement plans are readily accessible.	Include wellness programs and emo- tional support options in disaster preparedness plans.		
Financing remodels and new construc- tion, cost of continuous upgrading of technology.	Show managed care organizations and Medicare Advantage programs it is to their advantage to cover cost of telehealth equipment.	Aggregate data to show how residents rate their physical, mental and emo- tional health better than, and are at lower risk of illness than, individuals who do not live at senior living/assist- ed living properties.		

Future-proof technology integration

"We thrive on good intentions, but often fail to capture real data that matters to the customer."

John Cochrane, President and CEO, HumanGood

Technology has rapidly become the go-to for connecting staff, residents and families; indeed, connecting to the world outside of the community, whether a college lecture or a doctor. Many types of technology have been available prior to the pandemic, and tech companies are confident that their solutions will fill a need in senior living.

From the organization's point of view, the abundance of technologies means sorting out what will be most effective given a property's current and future infrastructure and needs. Overall, considerations are that software and/or hardware:

- serves a purpose and has a demonstrable benefit for residents, staff and community operations,
- has a current or potential ability to connect with other systems the organization has in place (interoperability),
- is user-friendly and simple enough to encourage adoption, and
- has a reporting function that provides information on usage and utility.

An interface or platform that enables different systems to communicate with one another would be a big boost to senior living. The ability to aggregate data from all systems in a useful dashboard and benchmarking report would allow for realistic business decisions and aid offsite providers and staff from all functional areas in sharing information for the good of residents and the community.

Residents and their families will expect they can virtually connect to one another, and to services and medical services. Technology will remain a key part of the infrastructure of an organization, whether inside of properties or as a pathway to interface with the larger community.

Plan for future demand. During and after the pandemic, residents and their families will expect they can virtually connect to one another, and to services and medical support. Broadband internet in all areas of a building, devices such as smart televisions, tablets and phones will be the norm. Rooms with smart utilities, remote monitoring, voice-activated systems and in-house channels will be expected, with appropriate adaptations for people needing assistance.

Plan for personal and personalized technologies. Wearable devices, like motion-detecting wristwatches, pedometers and heart rate monitors are mainstream technologies. Personalized medicine with elements such as direct-to-consumer genetic testing and blood pressure readings sent to physicians through telehealth will become more popular and need to be accounted for in technology plans.

Design infrastructure for technology. Ensure all rooms in a building and outdoor spaces have equal access to electricity, internet and communication systems so connections are available throughout the community. Invite residents to comfortable, tech-enabled common spaces with tools for connection, education and projects (like coffee shops with wi-fi) to preserve a sense of community as opposed to technology isolating residents in their separate apartments.

Establish a technology evaluation process. With so many technologies emerging, aimed at different functions in an organization, it can become overwhelming for staff and Information Technology departments. Develop a process to evaluate potential technologies with criteria and, importantly, input from everyone who will eventually

Future-proof technology integration

interact with the technology. With the rapid development in technology, it is important to stay current. (See Resources for the technology white paper with an evaluation checklist.)

Evaluate mainstream off-the-shelf technology. Consumer products from Apple, Microsoft, Google and other suppliers are familiar to residents, families and staff. Because these are common, families give them to current residents and future residents will arrive with them. Families and peers can help teach new users, which lessens the support needed from staff.

Upskill and support a tech-capable staff. Provide time and resources for training beyond internet-only help modules so that staff are competent in a program they will use and understand how it will benefit them. Monitor staff's adoption of technology and when usage is low, discover why and what is needed so software and hardware is used.

Upskill and support tech-capable residents and families. Implement technology that is simple and easy to use, supporting users with knowledgeable peers and a dedicated staff concierge. Place a "tech hub" booth centrally in the common area, staffed with experts or upskilled resident, where residents, families and staff can bring questions and learn how to use unfamiliar equipment or troubleshoot a problem.

Adjust staff workflow to allow for technology. Before adding technology-assisted processes to ease workloads, adjust nursing and caregiver workflows to accommodate the transition. Plan for extra time needed when staff assist memory-impaired residents with the technology they use to communicate with family and friends.

Recognize the need to unplug from technology. Access to technology solutions is important, and equally important is time to disconnect for a walk, to read a book, paint or get a good night's sleep. Some residents will choose not to use available technologies and their preferences should be respected. Backup systems to address technology failures are another aspect of being unplugged.

Technology integration				
Potential shocks & stressors	What's possible to minimize			
Staff and residents do not use or are not trained in how to use technology.	Assign a tech concierge person or team to support staff, families and residents, including residents with vision or hear- ing impairments.	Form a technology advisory commit- tee to evaluate the product including residents and staff who will use it.		
Inability to aggregate all of the data we currently have into a useful system to analyze it.	Collaborate with organizations in other industries that compile data from multiple sources, e.g., managed care, to investigate models that may apply to senior living.	Work with vendors to suggest solutions and provide examples of how their technology can interface with others.		
Natural/man-made disasters impacting technology: power outages, internet or broadband outages, ransomware attacks, data breeches, hacking.	Electrical backup system, e.g., gen- erators in all buildings; incorporate manual back-up systems that do not rely on power to keep needed services functioning.	Acquire best practice security systems, monitored and upgraded by IT and security professionals.		

Future-proof workforce quality, growth and retention

"Lessen workforce challenges by creating a place where people want to work, and where they have autonomy and opportunities to be creative and to be heard."

Denise Hyde, Community Builder, The Eden Alternative

The workforce fuels the life and services in a community, as critical a part of the infrastructure as the pillars supporting a roof. The shortages of needed staff members the industry experienced before the pandemic are likely to continue over the long-term unless changes are made in culture and operations.

Future-proofing the workforce begins by considering the attitudes of senior and middle management and workers in all roles. Is there a sense that some workers are more important than others? Or an assumption that some individuals are incapable of independent action for the betterment of residents and work requirements? Has a topheavy hierarchal organizational structure limited new ideas or quick action?

As the community reimagines the future, there are many approaches that can be used to recruit and retain workers, lessen workloads, and engage older adults as allies.

Rebuild positive attitudes toward jobs held by frontline staff. Promote positions for nursing assistants and care staff as high-value jobs that are purposeful, help out family members, provide an income, and make a difference to individuals and society. Managers of these positions model this positive attitude, respecting the ideas of staff members and adjusting schedules as much as possible to meet their needs. Truly value the individuals who provide care to keep them energized and feeling fulfilled in their work.

Invest in the workforce with professional development and practical support. Provide training on job roles, but also soft skills of communication, listening and teamwork. Support workers with mentors, problem-solving sessions, stress management techniques and constructive feedback. Peers help one another and the culture demands every person pitch in when a need appears. **Offer workers robust benefits.** Include health care plans for all positions in the organization, either with a low- or no-deductible plan, or allow staff access to on-site clinic services. Childcare or adult day services at the community could be provided in part by residents. Take advantage of resources already available in the community by making food service, fitness areas and wellness programs available to staff and families.

Provide affordable housing options. Open affordable housing units to staff and their families so they can live, work and even play as part of the community. By living on campus or nearby, direct care staff avoid long commutes and risks of infectious illness, while making it possible to work one job instead of two because the economics enable it. An organic recruitment approach, children of staff and extended family members see the value in working at the community as a future career.

Expand the definition of "workforce" to include families and residents. Enlist those family caregivers who would take care of their loved ones if they were paid and could afford to do so. Provide the training and monitoring to aid them in this work. Some residents are able and willing to work for wages, which makes living in the community more affordable and is part of their professional wellness.

Rethink job descriptions. A universal worker is crosstrained to competently perform a variety of jobs, with the side benefit of breaking down silos. This type of position must be balanced by workers who are more specialized, with deeper subject matter expertise. Depending on the role, regulations will dictate the qualifications a worker must have to perform certain tasks.

Integrate residents into program leadership. Encourage more resident-led programming by developing a culture

Future-proof workforce quality, growth and retention

of engagement as opposed to more passive participation. Consider how to audition residents so they teach or lead activities within the scope of their abilities and the standards established within the field where they will work.

Implement technology to replace selected staff tasks.

Motion sensors and voice-activated technologies allow staff to check on each resident at need instead of a set schedule. Telehealth enables residents to check and report blood pressure, temperature or similar markers. Instead of asking for staff assistance, residents on their own can open automatic doors and use touchless appliances like water faucets. A possible benefit for the resident is longer

maintenance of abilities to perform activities of daily living and a sense of independence.

Fit wellness opportunities into staff schedules. Before the pandemic, staff in all roles dealt with the loss of a favorite resident or problems at work. During and after the pandemic, stress is even higher because of financial troubles, housing risk, home schooling and the need to perform extra work as staff shortages loomed. Staff needs for emotional and practical support, especially for those who are in a caregiving role at home, is as great as the needs of residents. A future-proofed community provides it.

Workforce quality, growth and retention				
Potential shocks & stressors	What's possible to minimize			
Staffing shortages; regulatory require- ments about credentials staff needs; lack of care staff, maintenance staff.	Develop a pool of part-time workers, credentialed for various roles, to fill jobs when needed.	Use technology to lessen workload for staff, e.g., enabling residents to perform some tasks, such as monitoring blood pressure.		
Frontline positions perceived neg- atively; young people discouraged from these positions; constant loop of training and losing workers.	Develop career advancement ladder where person can join the senior living field right out of high school and see it as a meaningful career with opportuni- ty for growth.	Reframe community as a desirable workplace by giving employees, in- cluding frontline staff, opportunities to be creative and actively involved in decision making.		
Current staff burnout, fatigue; reluc- tance to work weekends, evenings, nights.	Institute flexible work schedules; adjust workflows to enable technology inte- gration into systems.	Cross-train staff to cover for others, train to respond to emergencies or select a dedicated emergency response team.		
Wage increases to hire and retain workers impacts budgets; competition from companies paying more for less stressful jobs.	Add benefits for employees to improve compensation package; allow staff to access community services, e.g., dining, fitness areas, lectures as a benefit.	Add affordable housing on campus for team members at a reduced rate; provide roommate matching service.		

Future-proof wellness culture and lifestyle

"People think of wellness as a cost item, but they need to look at it as a differentiator, wellness is why people move in. It's easy to fall into the trap of thinking it's all about compliance and passing a state survey when really it's about improving the well-being of residents."

Max Mosky, Director of Analytics, Morrison Living



Fundamental to the culture of the future-proofed community is the definition of "wellness." Wellness, interwoven in all areas of an individual's life, is integral to the way dining, housekeeping, personal care, exercise, lifelong learning, and all other services and features are provided. Wellness is the value proposition of the current and future community, the differentiator that separates the philosophy and culture from all other housing and care options.

In the old normal, prepandemic days, wellness was defined differently by organizations and sometimes considered an "extra" that the community could do without. New models abandon that attitude to attract residents and optimize the flow between the property and the larger community, the intergenerational staff, families and residents, and integration into value-based care. Wellness is not a "program," but a universal approach to well-being.

Prioritize wellness in the organizational culture. Incorporating the multidimensional definition of wellness into the organization's mission positions it as the driver of culture that integrates into all areas of the community. The focus is on where the organization and individuals are going, not on where each has been. The term "wellness" is not applied to a single department (e.g., health care or fitness) but applies to all service areas. Maintain the culture of collaboration so staff in all areas include wellness in their daily activities for the common good of the community.

Measure wellness results. Identify a manageable number of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that are tracked and reported to demonstrate the value of wellness culture and lifestyle to funders, management and residents. (Wellness KPIs are found in the ICAA/ProMatura Wellness Benchmarks, see Resources). Rethink how participation is defined, adding virtual-only to in-person participants for a more accurate representation of interest in wellness opportunities.

Recommit to educate staff and residents. Aid residents and staff in redefining the ways that wellness is delivered during times like a pandemic when they cannot access opportunities in a traditional way. Provide training and encouragement to team members so they are comfortable translating company culture into relationships with residents, and using technology as one pathway.

Reimagine content and location. Use a hybrid model to provide content virtually and in-person, balancing larger

Future-proof wellness culture and lifestyle

and smaller groups. Participants appreciate on-demand content that allows them to choose a time versus making time for a scheduled meeting. Consider opportunities across functional levels and personal interests, replacing assumptions about the average age in a community.

Refresh content with off-site partnerships. Develop program diversity by partnering with community centers, libraries, recreation departments, schools, online programs, and Medicare Advantage for an exchange of "programs" and subject matter expertise. These organizations already have programs aimed at older adults and may not think about senior living or long-term care as an audience. Recognize the need for a variety of opportunities and programs to keep people engaged and connected.

Prepare to reach younger people. Aligning content for exchanges with partners in community centers, schools

and libraries means that participants will be young adults or children as well as older adults. Technology platforms can reach many age groups. Occasional visits with schoolchildren or isolated programs with high school students will need to be updated and become more central to the focus of lifestyle activities.

Appropriately integrate technology into programming. Organize a variety of modes of delivery: face to face, virtual, hybrid. Identify and leverage evidence-based, digital wellness content, accessible to residents and staff across a variety of delivery platforms. Utilize in-house communication channels, such as televisions and kiosks. Ensure security and privacy of those logging in to virtual activities. Maintain a back-up plan of how to deliver opportunities if technology fails.

Wellness culture and lifestyle				
Potential shocks & stressors	What's possible to minimize			
Reduced program participation; residual fear from pandemic coupled with divisive culture causes people to disengage.	Rethink definition of participation since technology has reached people who do not ordinarily attend in-person events.	Engage partners in the larger com- munity along with residents to design and deliver wellness programs that are meaningful to them.		
Lack of skilled staff, availability of trained and quality staffing to support well-being.	Invest in content from commercial pro- viders, e.g., educational videos, fitness classes, virtual reality experiences.	Hire and train from within, offering opportunities for staff to stay and grow into the wellness culture of the com- munity.		
Leadership considers wellness a com- modity or talking point, does not fund or cuts funding from budget.	Reposition wellness as a differentiator, not a cost center, since it is the attribute that attracts and retains residents.	Add small dollar amounts to each service area to cover costs, e.g., add one dollar to meal plan/dining, one dollar to housekeeping, etc.		

Rewriting the playbook for futureproofed communities

"We will be facing other challenges due to COVID-19 and we are resilient; however, we must have our bondholders understand and be partners with us as we face the reality of occupancy due to COVID."

Shirley Barnes, CEO, Crest View Senior Communities

When "old-age homes" were formed in the 1800s by religious groups and fraternal organizations, there was a need to provide housing and care for the elderly. Today's and tomorrow's older adults have similar needs, but the world they live in is very different.

Resting on top of economics, politics, culture and a health crisis is longevity—people can expect to live into their '80s and '90s. (In 1860, life expectancy in the U.S. averaged 39.4 years [O'Neill 2020].) Across the three or four generations of older adults, chronological age is no longer a proxy for good health or poor health, employment or joblessness, financial security or poverty. A future-proofed organization will toss out the playbook of the past to recreate itself for the future. The thought leaders who imagined a new model for senior living during the ICAA Forum are not unaware of the major roadblocks they will have to roll aside in order to implement these ideas. Foremost is shifting a business exclusive to older adults to one that opens, at least in part, to younger people. Right behind is the attitude of some current residents, who may not be comfortable with staff members and their families living on the property and mingling in shared spaces. Or inviting neighbors into their private spaces. Emerging from isolation and allowing non-community voices a part in decision-making is not simple.

Who will be included in the future population? This is a big question for future-proofed organizations. Each year

From the insights of this meeting, what is the ONE WORD that describes the most important element for the future of senior living communities? personalization empowering integrated community change (connected simplify open adapt creativity creative hybrid nication comm hvbrid-programn ng adaptable

Rewriting the playbook for futureproofed communities

the values of different ethnic and cultural groups need to be considered; some people arrive with high-acuity health care needs and others are energetically striving for a healthy longevity. Globally, the populations of most countries are aging, meaning even more older people could benefit from a lifestyle that respects their physical, cognitive and emotional abilities. Matching the trends in the larger society to the vision and services offered by the organization will help ensure sustainability.

Perhaps the highest barrier to leap is financing. Current sources of funding will be restructured; new sources found. Organizations serving older adults have an advantage: the need for their services remains and their capabilities can extend outside their property lines. This advantage needs to be relayed to investors who may be focused on short-term returns and have a superficial knowledge of the business of "senior" living. Across the globe, companies and businesses are experiencing economic pressures, which suggests financial institutions and investors may be more flexible when presented with a reliable market that serves a growing population.

The suggestions generated during the ICAA Forum 2020 were proposed by experienced thought leaders in senior living, people familiar with the strategic and tactical roles of an organization. They were joined by selected industry suppliers, equally experienced in providing services and products for older and younger people. The concepts and specifics they presented are the fertile ground for futureproofing your organization.

The next models of living for the 50+ population means taking risks, and some risks are very large. On balance, the rewards could be even larger by moving the industry beyond the small percentage that currently utilizes its services. With the dual goals of providing for the aging population and sustaining an organization's mission, making changes may well be the way to survive through the next decades as the greater risk may be to do nothing and become irrelevant.

Details

References

International Council on Active Aging. 2019. ICAA State of Wellness 2019 https://www.icaa.cc//listing.php?type=industry_research

NEJM Catalyst. 2017. What Is Value-Based Healthcare? https://catalyst.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/CAT.17.0558

O'Neill, A. 2020. Life expectancy in the United States, 1860-2020 https://www.statista.com/statistics/1040079/lifeexpectancy-united-states-all-time/

Resources

Creating a path towards the 'next normal' in senior living ICAA, Research, white papers https://www.icaa.cc//listing.php?type=white_papers

Future-Proofing Your Workforce Through Continuous Upskilling

Aon Human Capital https://insights.humancapital.aon.com/talent-assessmentblog/future-proofing-your-workforce-through-continuousupskilling

ICAA/ProMatura Wellness Benchmarks

The National Benchmarks Report, 2017 https://www.icaa.cc/business/benchmarks.htm

The business case for wellness programs in senior living ICAA, Research, white papers https://www.icaa.cc//listing.php?type=white_papers

The future of technology for active aging

ICAA, Research, white papers https://www.icaa.cc/conferenceandevents/forums/ forumreports.htm

The Principles of Future-Proofing The built environment

http://principlesoffutureproofing.com/

Forum participants

Acts Retirement-Life Communities Megan Longley Vice President of Sales

Acts Retirement-Life Communities Mary Herrstrom Corporate Dietitian

Acts Retirement-Life Communities Theresa Perry Corporate Director of Hospitality and Wellness Services

Aegis Therapies Kathryn Abrahamson Director, PR & Communications

Aegis Therapies Brian Boekhout Vice President Wellness Services & EnerG

Aegis Therapies Martha Schram President & CEO

Ageility Physical Therapy Solutions Michel Weaver *Senior Director of Operations*

American Senior Communities Jean Brooks *Senior Vice President* Benchmark Wellness Management Denise McQuaide President & COO

Bethesda Living Centers Michelle Cox Ingerson *Vice President, Health Services*

Blue Sky Therapy Renee Halfhill *President and CEO*

Brookdale Senior Living Carol Cummings Senior Director, Optimum Life Engagement and Innovation

Buckner Retirement Services, Inc. Charlie Wilson *Senior Vice President*

Canyon Ranch Richard Carmona *Chief of Health Innovations and 17th Surgeon General of the United States*

Centrex Rehab Ronna Rochell *Director of Fitness Solutions* Country Meadows Retirement Communities Elaine Bussoletti Vice President Operations

Covenant Living at Inverness Jana Decker Director of Wellness

Crest View Senior Communities Shirley Barnes President & CEO

Domtar Personal Care Elizabeth Clark *Director of Marketing*

Domtar Personal Care Melissa Weston *Vice President Global Commercial Excellence*

Ecumen Shelley Kendrick President & CEO **Eden Alternative** Denise Hyde *Community Builder*

Elegance Living Janet Tiemeyer Senior Vice President, Quality Assurance & Risk Manegment

Erickson Living Margaret Kimbell *Vice President, Community Living*

Five Star Senior Living David Seward *Regional Director Operations*

Five Star Senior Living Leah Jewell Bugos Divisional Director of Sales & Marketing-Division B

Franciscan Ministries Judy Amiano President & CEO

Functional Pathways Brittany Austin National Director of Health and Wellness **Gardant Management** Rick Banas Vice President of Development

GenCare Lifestyle Inc Leon Grundstein President

Genesis Rehab Services Felicia Chew Vice President of Clinical Services, Education, and Staff Development

Genesis Rehab Services Jennifer Sidelinker Vice President, Mobility and Falls Management

Genesis HealthCare Corp Garry Pezzano Senior Vice President of Clinical Practice

Good Samaritan Society Martha Frohwein *Restorative Mobility Senior Consultant*

Grace Management, Inc. Lori Edgerton *Vice President of Sales* **Highgate Senior Living** Tiffany Van Heel *Leadership and Program Development Manager*

Homewood Retirement Centers Candice McMullen Vice President Operations

HumanGood John Cochrane *CEO*

iN2L Lisa Taylor *CEO*

iN2L Karen O'Hern Vice President, Product Management

Immanuel Rachel Hoeck Corporate Wellness Manager

International Council on Active Aging Colin Milner Founder and CEO

Keiser Corporation Alastair Watson Vice President

Forum participants

Keiser Corey Disler Market Sepcialist Rehab & Active Aging

Kendal at Crosslands Communities Suzanne Stevens *Fitness Manager*

Kisco Senior Living Libbi Hash National Wellness Specialist

Le Groupe Maurice Marc Ouimet Associate Vice President of Operations

Legacy Healthcare Services Ann Irwin Vice President, Clinical Programming & Development

Lifespace Communities, Inc Sara Hamm Chief Clinical/Public Health Office

Masterpiece Living Amanda Baushke Associate Managing Director of Operations **Mather LifeWays** Meredith Boyle *Senior Vice President Strategic Initiatives*

Matrix Fitness Tom O'Hearn *Medical Manager West – Commercial*

Matrix Fitness Joe Turngren *Medical Manager East – Commercial*

Merrithew Beth Gibbs-Bartel Vice President Commercial & Retail Sales

Merrithew MaryAnn Scandiffio Director, Education

Morrison Living Max Mosky *Senior Director of Analytics*

Morrison Living Mike McFall Senior Vice President of Sales

NuStep, LLC Jane Benskey *Marketing Communications Specialist* NuStep, LLC Scott Rubicz National Senior Living Director

Presbyterian Homes & Services Jessica Drecktrah *Vice President, Life Enrichment*

Presbyterian Villages of Michigan Tom Wyllie Director of Innovation & Wellness

Prestige Senior Living Angie Frantz *Product Manager, Expressions*

Prestige Care Inc. Hollie Fowler Senior Director Marketing and Product Management

Prime Senior Management Debra Maynard CEO

RehabCare PLUS Brittany Austin National Wellness Director

Resort Lifestyle Communities Kim Clardy Director of Lifestyle & Wellness **Revera Inc.** Michele Reid *National Director Recreation*

Sage Senior Living Kelly Cook Andress *President*

Select Rehabilitation Neely Sullivan *Director of Education*

Silvera for Seniors Lisa Murray Active Aging Coordinator

Spectrum Retirement Communities, LLC Stephanie Haley-Andrews Vice President, Resident Care

Springpoint Senior Living Stacey Judge *Community Wellness Program Director*

Sunrise Senior Living Judi Pring Regional Director of Programming

Sunrise Senior Living Sandy Strathmeyer Regional Director of Memory Care Sustainable Housing for Ageless Generations Jay Woolford *CEO*

Symbria Sandy Stoub Director of Programming, Symbria Well-Being Services

Trilogy Health Services, LLC Tom Alaimo Vice President, Life Enrichment & Memory Care

Ultimate Care Management Kate Schneider Programming Specialist

Vi Living Tony Galvan *Assistant Vice President of Living Well*

Vivage Senior Living Hope Carwile Innovations Specialist

Watermark Retirement Communities Aras Erekul National Director of Integrative Well-being Watermark Retirement Communities Kelly Ording Regional Director of Resident Programming

WesleyLife Shannon Draayer Director of Health & Well-Being

Western Home Communities Sonya Thrall Chief Innovation Officer





603-1112 West Pender Street Vancouver, BC, V6E 2S1 Toll-free: 866-335-9777 Tel: 604-734-4466 www.icaa.cc